FILED

Oct 06, 2015

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner, Clay Starbuck, through his attorney, Suzanne Lee Elliott, seeks review.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals issued a published decision affirming Starbuck's conviction and sentence on September 8, 2015. App. A.

, III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Does the Court of Appeals opinion affirming the trial court's order denying Starbuck's right to present other suspect evidence conflict with this Court's opinion in *State v. Franklin¹* and violate Starbuck's constitutional right to present a defense?

2. Does the Court of Appeals opinion apply the incorrect harmless error standard to the exclusion of "other suspect evidence?"

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 9, 2012, Clay D. Starbuck was charged with aggravated premeditated murder in the first degree with aggravating

¹ State v. Franklin, 180 Wn.2d 371, 325 P.3d 159 (2014).

circumstances in violation of RCW 9A.32.030, and sexually violating human remains. RCW 9A.44.105. CP 14-15. The jury convicted him as charged. CP 785-790. The trial judge sentenced him to life in prison without the possibility of parole. CP 904-914.

Chanin Starbuck² was found dead in her Deer Park home on December 3, 2011 at about 9:11 a.m. RP 946. The State's theory is that Clay Starbuck, her ex-husband, used a ruse to get her out of the house at 8:00 a.m. on December 1, 2011. RP 875-76, 2691. While she was out, he broke in and lay in wait. RP 2692. When she returned, he beat her to death between 9:15 a.m. and 9:20 a.m. RP 96. The police "believed" that after 9:30 a.m., Clay remained in Chanin's house and used her phone to respond to two sexual partners and the couple's children in order to hide the fact that he was in Chanin's house and had murdered her. CP 26. The State believed that Clay's motives in killing his ex-wife were "greed, anger, obsession and jealousy." RP 2682. *See also* RP 99-102.

Clay denied killing his wife and sought to present "other suspect" evidence at trial.

Clay and Chanin Starbuck married, divorced, remarried and divorced again. They had four children together: Austin, Blake, Sutton and

 $^{^2}$ In order to avoid confusion, this brief will use the first names of the many members of the Starbuck family discussed in the statement of the case. No disrespect is intended.

Loghan. Between the marriages, Chanin became pregnant by another man. Nonetheless, Clay embraced that child, Marshall, as his own. The couple lived together at 509 North Reiper in Deer Park from May 2008 until June 7, 2009. RP 2584, 2602. Clay moved to Alaska for a time and then returned to Deer Park and lived in a house about half a mile away from Chanin. RP 2549.

The second divorce was finalized in July 2011. RP 2539. In December 2011, Chanin had primary residential custody of the minor children. *Id.* The children stayed with Clay every other weekend. They also stayed with him every Wednesday after school. Clay also picked up the three school aged children every morning and drove them to school. RP 2540.

Clay, who had been working in Alaska, suffered a significant back injury and was on sick leave beginning in February, 2011. RP 2497-98, 3540. He underwent invasive surgery on July 18, 2011. RP 2487. As a result, he fell behind on his child support obligations. RP 2586. On October 28, 2011, he was ordered to pay Chanin \$9,600 in back child support and attorney fees. RP 2585-86; Exhibit 445.

His back pain was such that in December 2011 he was not sleeping well. He was up at night until midnight or 1:00 a.m. RP 2542. He would

get up and take the kids to school about 8:00 a.m. RP 2543. Then he would come home and go back to sleep until noon. *Id.*

A. THE EVENTS OF DECEMBER 1, 2011

On December 1, 2011, Clay was driving a 1988 two-door Toyota Tercel. RP 2544. He got up a little after 7:00 a.m. and started out to pick up the children but his car died en route. RP 2553. He texted the children about getting ready for school at 7:11, 7:14, 7:52 and 7:53 a.m. *See* RP 2341-2342. At 7:54 a.m. he texted his daughter Loghan and said: "Is mom up, car is acting up." RP 2342. At 8:06 a.m., Clay texted Chanin and said: "Car quit. Can you take the kids?" RP 2342. At 8:08 a.m., Chanin texted back: "K." RP 2343, 2554.

Clay then walked home and went back to bed. RP 2556. He did not recall exactly how long he slept that day. *Id.* Clay plugged his cell phone into the car charger because the phone was out of power. RP 2562-63, 2605-06.

Chanin was awake because at 8:06 a.m. she began texting with her two sexual partners, Tom Walker and John Kenlein (who was masquerading as John Wilson). She continued to text with both men throughout the morning and early afternoon of December 1. She took the children to school at about 8:00 a.m. RP 1423. And, unbeknownst to anyone at the time, Chanin's phone called 911 at 9:17 a.m. This was a

hang-up call. When the 911 operator returned the call, there was no answer. RP 1452-1464.

Tom Walker was asked if he was dating Chanin in November and December 2011. He answered: "If that's what you want to call it." RP 1474. He knew Chanin for about three weeks before her death. *Id.* He and Chanin arranged to have dinner at Walker's house on Monday, December 5, 2011.

Walker and Chanin sent several messages to each other in the hour between 8:00 and 9:00 a.m. on December 1, 2011. At 8:06 a.m. Walker texted Chanin, "Good morning sexy." CP 494. At 8:20 Chanin texted Walker: "Good morning handsome." *Id.* at 8:29, Walker texted Chanin: "I'm looking back at our texts and I think that you should send me a picture of your vibrator in your pussy. Sorry.... But you made me think of it." CP 495. Chanin responded at 8:38: "I so want your cock in me right now." CP 593. Walker texted at 8:42: "Me too. I want to fell [sic] your set [sic] pussy around my cock and your mouth sliding down it too. Damn... You make me so friggin horny." *Id.* He sent two more texts: "Wet no Set [sic])" at 8:42 a.m. *Id.* Finally, at 8:47 he texted: "I have to tell you I really like blow jobs. I hope you like oral back." *Id.*

On December 1, Walker did not go to work in the morning. He went to a funeral at 9:40 a.m. and was there until "real close to 10:30."

RP 1476. He said that he went "directly back to work" after the funeral. However, he continued texting with Chanin. At 10:49 a.m. he texted Chanin to see "how her day was going." RP 1478. He said: "I just got done going to the funeral, how about yours, what do you have doing [sic] on today." RP 1778; Ex. 269-C. Chanin responded at 12:10 p.m.: "I had to leave to stop by the bank. Can you meet me at the Onion for lunch at 1:00?" RP 1479; Ex. 271-C. Walker texted back at 12:12 p.m.: "No I wish I could. I had to leave work to go to a funeral so that was my lunch." RP 1481; Ex. 272-C. At 12:19 p.m. Chanin again asked Walker if he was on his way to the Onion. RP 2345. At 12:26 p.m. Walker texted Chanin: "No I'm back at work from the funeral." RP 2345. At 12:45 p.m. Walker texted Chanin: "I wish I could meet you. Is [sic] like a few kisses to get me by till Monday." RP 1482; Ex. 284 B. Chanin sent another text at 2:19 p.m. regarding the Onion restaurant. RP 1484; Ex. 275B.

John Kenlein testified that he met Chanin via a dating website in September 2011. RP 1492. Prior to December 1, 2011, they met six times to have sex at Chanin's home, twice during the day and four times at night. RP 1525. He had arranged to get together with Chanin on the morning of December 1, 2011 at 10:30 am. He took the day off from work in order to make this date. RP 1493. Kenlein used the name "John Wilson" when communicating with Chanin. His screen name was "Just

Wondering?" RP 1527. On the dating website Kenlein represented that he was single, but he was married with children. *Id.* Kenlein, a Spokane school teacher, stated that he never wanted his relationship with Chanin to become public or to become an "actual dating relationship." RP 1533.

Kenlein dropped his kids at school at 9:20 a.m. RP 1494. Kenlein testified that he stopped at a Starbucks Coffee at 9:45 a.m. *Id.* At 10:00 a.m., he stopped by the Whitworth library and tried to contact Chanin. RP 1542. He said he proceeded to Chanin's house, stopping once to go to the bathroom at a McDonald's restaurant. RP 1495. He estimated he arrived at Chanin's home at 10:20 am. He knocked and got no response so he left and went to a payphone and called Chanin. There was no answer so he returned to her home and walked around to see if he saw anyone. RP 1497-98.

When he received no response at the house, Kenlein went to the Deer Park Public Library and tried to email Chanin. He estimated that by this time it was about 10:30 am. RP 1498. Kenlein testified that he drove back to Whitworth library and again tried to email Chanin. RP 1499.

At 12:37 p.m., Kenlein received a text from Chanin that said: "Eating did you cum by[?]" Ex. 280A. RP 1507-08. Kenlein texted back: "yes . . . will you be home soon? Or no . . ." (Ex. 281A) and: "sorry to have missed you . . . are you headed back to Dccr Park?" Ex. 282A.

Chanin responded: "Did you stop by??? Do you[]want to come over tonight[?]" Ex. 283. At 12:46 p.m. Kenlein texted back: "Yes, to later tonight . . . or are you headed home now?" RP 1511; Ex. 285A. He then said: "Yes I will see you tonight at 10:30-10:45ish." Ex. 287A. Chanin texted: "No[t] tonight I hav[e] a headache aand [sic] I will have clay take the kids." Ex. 288A. Kenlein responded: "closer to 9:30?" Ex. 289A. At 1:32 p.m. Chanin said: "Nope an[o]ther hour." Ex. 290A. See also RP 1482-1516.

When Clay woke up, he tried to start his car again but it was still dead. RP 2557. He returned home shortly after noon. *Id.* He ate and played on an X-Box. RP 2559.

At 2:45 p.m., Loghan texted her mother asking who was going to pick her up from school. Ex. 292A. Chanin texted back: "Dad. I have a headache, stay there." RP 2347. Loghan texted again at 3:05 and said she was cold. Ex. 295A. Chanin returned the text at 3:06 and said: "Send [M]arsh a note dad will be there in 10 Minutes." Ex. 296A. Loghan sent two more texts to her mother that went unanswered. RP 2348. Finally, she called her brother Austin who picked up Loghan and Marshall and took them to Clay's house. RP 2348. Austin picked the children up just after 3:00 p.m. RP 1413.

Because Clay thought Chanin was picking up the children from school, he went back to try to fix the car to get it started. RP 2561. He was successful. *Id.* After he started the car, he drove straight home. RP 2564. At 3:28 p.m. he texted Chanin that Austin picked up Loghan and Marshall at school and they were at his house. RP 1072.

At 5:45 p.m. Clay texted Chanin and said: "We are [going] to the game now. If you feel better, call me, and I'll meet you at the booths so you don't have to pay." RP 1072. Then Clay, Marshall and Sutton returned to the school to see Blake's basketball game. RP 2568. At 9:06 p.m. Clay texted Chanin: "Loghan is pissed and we didn't see your [sic] at the game. You should be involved in your child's activities." RP 1072.

After the game Clay and the children went to Chanin's house but the door was locked and there was no answer. RP 2570. They walked around and saw no one so they headed back to Clay's house so the children could go to bed. RP 2570.

At 7:22 p.m. Kenlein surreptitiously used a phone at his daughter's school to try to call Chanin. RP 1522. He received no answer. Nonetheless, at 9:45 p.m., he left home and went to Chanin's house. He could hear the heat running. He repeatedly knocked, but there was no answer. He also testified that he tried the doorknob. RP 1523.

At 11:57 p.m. Kenlein bought a cleaning product, Drain Pro Gel, at a Spokane area Walmart. RP 2196.

Kenlein never contacted the police when Chanin's murder was reported. RP 2187. He refused to meet with officers until they threatened to tell the public about his involvement in the case. RP 2188.

B. THE EVENTS OF DECEMBER 2, 2011

On December 2, 2011, Clay's three youngest kids did not go to school because they did not have fresh clothes. RP 2571.

At 5:00 p.m. the police received a call from Chanin's mother (who was in Florida) asking them to check on Chanin because she had not heard from her. RP 1757. Deputy Dutton and another officer went to Chanin's house at 6:15 p.m. They checked all the doors and windows and there was no indication of foul play so, after 10 minutes, they left. RP 1758. Dutton proceeded to Clay's house to see if he had any information. Clay was on the phone with the police when Dutton arrived. Clay said he did not know where Chanin was and showed Dutton his phone and text messages. RP 1760. He also told Dutton that Chanin was engaging in online dating and sending nude photos to men over the internet. RP 1761-62.

At 11:42 p.m. Clay called Dutton to see if he had located Chanin because he was concerned. RP 1766, 2204. He was also concerned because the children needed fresh clothes. *Id*.

C. THE EVENTS OF DECEMBER 3-6, 2011

On the morning of December 3, 2011, there was another call for a welfare check from one of Chanin's friends, Doug Carter. RP 946-47. At 9:11 a.m. the police finally entered the home and found Chanin dead on her bed. There was no sign of forced entry, although there were at least two unsecured windows in the home. RP 950, 975. She was naked on her back with a dildo in her vagina and a massager placed on her stomach. RP 949-51. Her phone was on the nightstand beside her bed. RP 951, 978-79.

Soon thereafter many police officers, the medical examiner, and forensic specialists arrived and began collecting and preserving evidence. At 11:03 a.m. Detective Dresbeck named Clay a "person-of-interest" in the case. RP 1086. The police forensic examiners took more than 100 pictures of the house. RP 1229. They attempted many, many fingerprint lifts. Latent prints were actually recovered from the bathroom mirror, the bathroom sink, the bathroom sink faucet handle, the top of the dryer, the dryer door and the interior of the front door. RP 1862. In particular, in one of the bathrooms an observer can clearly see a handprint on the bathroom wall. RP 1301-02; Ex. 63. There were items that appear to have blood on them and those items were swabbed. RP 1305, 1863-64. *See also* Ex. 665-67. The police swabbed the bathroom drain. RP 1881.

The police swabbed the keyboards and mouse pads for Chanin's computer. RP 1914.

In addition to the dildo found inside Chanin, the police seized other sexual devices. RP 1314. The police seized bedding, towels, a washcloth and a mattress pad that had a large stain on it. RP 1778, 2200.

At about noon Blake called Clay and told him about the police activity at Chanin's home. Clay drove to the home and asked Detective Renz what was happening. RP 2576. He showed Renz his phone with various text messages. RP 996, 100-02. Renz said "my perception he was probing me for information of what we were doing at the residence and any details referencing the investigation." RP 997. He also opined: "I think he was trying to lead us in a different direction." RP 1005.

Renz sent Clay to speak with other officers. RP 2577. Detective Dresbeck told Clay that Chanin was dead. RP 1067, 2577. Clay was shocked. RP 1068, 2577. Clay spoke freely and gave Dresbeck his phone with the text messages. RP 1069-71. Dresbeck asked Clay what he thought might have happened. RP 1073. Dresbeck wrote down the texts. RP 1101. He testified that he wanted Clay to "give me all the information he's got." RP 1096. Clay told Dresbeck to get Chanin's laptop because "that will tell you everything you need to know." RP 1073. Clay then told Dresbeck that Chanin had a history of engaging in phone sex, on-line

dating, sexual encounters and "sex stuff." RP 1073-74. The children gave him some of this information. RP 1074.³ Clay also said that Chanin left the children with him on Mother's Day so that she could go on a date. *Id*.

Dresbeck asked Clay the names of the men Chanin had been dating. Clay said he did not know the men. RP 1074. He had observed her with a man at her home. *Id.* Dresbeck asked Clay if Chanin ever expressed an interest in "autoerotic asphyxiation." RP 1078. Clay did not know what that was but after Dresbeck explained, Clay said she had never expressed any interest. *Id.* By the end of the conversation Dresbeck felt Clay was "telegraphing" the crime scene to him because he mentioned dildos when discussing his wife. RP 1105, 1107.

One officer was detailed to canvas the neighbors to see if anyone had seen anything suspicious. He went to 40 homes but there was no answer at 19. Of the remaining homeowners he spoke with, 13 saw nothing. No further efforts were ever made to talk to the neighbors. RP 1030.

Later on December 3, 2011, Dr. Sally Aiken performed Chanin's autopsy. RP 1664. Chanin weighed 169 pounds. RP 1729. Dr. Aiken stated that Chanin had been moved post-mortem, but that it would have

³ Dresbeck later said the children confirmed that Chanin had dildos. RP 1107-08.

been difficult. RP 1728-29. She stated that Chanin had been severely beaten. RP 1663. Chanin's body was found on her bed, face up. There was a massager on her stomach and a dildo in her vagina. RP 1671-72. There was no question that she was murdered by strangulation. RP 1696. Many swabs of her body were taken at the scene and her fingernails were clipped. RP 1663-1670. There were "flecks of black material between the hands." RP 1672-73.

Dr. Aiken said there were injuries on Chanin's breast and left hand. RP 1691. The prosecutor asked: "what could have caused those injuries?" RP 1691. Dr. Aiken answered: "The thing I was most concerned about. Looking at those two pattern injuries, was the use of a stun gun. There are other possible explanations." RP 1691. When asked a second time, she again stated that the "pattern" injuries "could be possibly stun gun marks. So there are other explanations." RP 1695.

But she concluded: "I attributed the death to compression of the neck, sort of vaguely because of the uncertainty about what was actually used." RP 1698. Dr. Aiken speculated at length about whether or not a ligature was used and what kind. *Id.*

There were no vaginal or anal injuries. RP 1729. She found sperm on Chanin's left ankle (never tested by the police) and left paravaginal area (unidentified male). RP 1720. She found hairs that were "probably not" from Chanin's head. RP 1721.

Dr. Aiken could not set a time of death. She testified that her estimated time of death was not very accurate but it could have been Thursday, December 1st or early December 2nd. RP 1732.

On December 5, 2011, Clay was interviewed by the investigating officers for three hours. RP 2580; CP 115-245. Clay cooperated fully, giving the officers his cell phone information, a DNA sample and fingerprints. RP 2580-82, 2094-96. On that same day, Clay brought his children to the police station so they could all be interviewed. RP 2578, 2096.

On December 6, 2011, two officers went to Clay's house and asked him to show them the route he took on December 1 and the spot where his car broke down. RP 1109-21. The police did not record the conversations during the ride. RP 1124.

D. THE REMAINDER OF THE INVESTIGATION

The police collected hair strands from Chanin's nightgown that had sufficient biological material for DNA testing. RP 2371; Ex. 470. The police collected loose hair on Chanin's chest and abdomen that contained sufficient biological material for DNA testing. RP 2371; Ex. 471. The police collected loose hair from around Chanin's vaginal opening that also had sufficient biological material for DNA testing. RP 2375; Ex. 472. The police collected unknown hairs from the massager box that had sufficient biological material for DNA testing. RP 2376; Ex. 487. The police collected unknown hair from the plug end of the massager that had sufficient biological material for DNA testing. RP 2377. But *none* of the DNA material on those hairs – 19 in all – was tested by the crime lab. RP 2384-89. At least some of the hairs were suitable for mitochondrial DNA testing. *Id.* Detective Ricketts did not ask to have any of these items tested.

The police also seized a mattress pad, a fitted sheet and a towel from Chanin's laundry room. RP 2508-09. These items had some sort of stain or bodily fluids on them, but they were not tested. RP 2510. Similarly, the DNA from the autopsy vaginal wash was not tested. *Id.*

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