Supreme Court No.92363-9
COA No. 31845-1-III

RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Nov 04, 2015, 11:32 am
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

E 
RECEIVED BY EMAIL

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Plaintiff/Respondent

v.

CLAY D. STARBUCK,

Defendant/Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

LAWRENCE H. HASKELL
Prosecuting Attorney
Spokane County

Larry Steinmetz
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Attorneys for Respondent

County-City Public Safety Building
West 1100 Mallon
Spokane, Washington 99260
(509) 477-3662

 ORIGINAL

FILED AS
ATTACHMENT TO EMAIL

I. IDENTITY OF PARTY

Respondent, State of Washington, was the plaintiff in the trial court and the respondent in the Court of Appeals.

II. STATEMENT OF RELIEF SOUGHT

Respondent seeks denial of the petition for review.

III. ISSUE PRESENTED

1. Did the court of appeals misapply this Court's decision in *State v. Franklin*, 180 Wn.2d 371, 325 P.3d 159 (2014), when it found the trial court did not err by excluding a sexually explicit series of texts between Ms. Starbuck and Mr. Walker – a proffered other suspect to the murder?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The defendant was charged with and convicted of premediated murder in the first degree of his ex-wife, Chanin Starbuck, with aggravating circumstances. He was also convicted of sexually violating human remains. CP 14.

a. Substantive facts.¹

Defendant and Ms. Starbuck were divorced July 26, 2011. RP 1948.

¹ The State's responsive brief filed in the court of appeals did not contain a summary of facts.

On December 1, 2011 at 9:18 AM, a 911 call² was received from Ms. Starbuck's cell phone by the Spokane County 911 call center. RP 1456, 1737. The duration of the call was 34 seconds. RP 1456, 1738. The 911 operator did not hear the first several seconds of the call. RP 1737.³ The operator attempted to call back, but he only received voicemail. RP 1739. Immediately following the 911 call, Ms. Starbuck's phone⁴ was manually turned off at 9:18 AM. RP 2325, 2326, 2343-44.

Spokane County deputies conducted a welfare check⁵ at Ms. Starbuck's home on December 2, 2011, around 6:15 PM. RP 1757-58.

² Initially, the trial court found the content of the 911 telephone call was more prejudicial than probative and excluded it. RP 1603-07. It was only after the defense extensively cross-examined the medical examiner regarding her opinion of the day and time of death that the trial court found the relevance of the call outweighed its potential for prejudice and that both parties could benefit from its admission. RP 2040-2044. After its admittance, a copy of the original of the 911 call was played for the jury. RP 2082-83; Ex. 448.

³ If a person calling 911 speaks before the line is connected to the operator, the operator cannot hear the person speaking. RP 1737-38

⁴ Ms. Starbuck's cell phone was collected at her bedside and the contents were extracted for forensic analysis. RP 1780. After securing the appropriate search warrants, numerous other electronic and storage devices were taken from the crime scene and the defendant's home and were analyzed by forensic personnel. RP 2227-2243, RP 2275-2299.

⁵ Ms. Starbuck's mother requested the welfare check by law enforcement. RP 1757.

Ms. Starbuck did not respond. RP 1759. Shortly thereafter, Deputy Dutton made contact with the defendant regarding the welfare check. RP 1759. The defendant volunteered information about his divorce and Ms. Starbuck's "infidelity." RP 1760. "He went on to explain more or tell me more about how he had – had caught Chanin several times talking to men online, nude photos being found on the computer of her and ... other men." RP 1761. As the conversation proceeded, "[h]e went on telling me more incidents of infidelity, how she would leave at night ... leave the kids unattended." RP 1763. The defendant also remarked how the youngest child was not his biological son. RP 1763.

On December 3, 2013, Spokane County deputies again responded to Ms. Starbuck's home for a welfare check⁶ and made entry into the home. RP 942-949, 959-63. Ms. Starbuck was located in her bedroom deceased. RP 949, 961. After her death, she was placed in a sexually deprecating position on top of her bed. RP 978, 1676.⁷ There was no observable forced entry into the home. RP 984.

⁶ Deputies responded to the home the second time at the request of Ms. Starbuck's mother and friends because they had not heard from her in several days. RP 1571-72.

⁷ Ms. Starbuck was found naked, laying on her back with her hands positioned over her pubis. Her legs were spread open. RP 1671. A muscle massager was also on her pubis and a sexual toy (an erect penis with scrotum and testicles) had been inserted into her vagina. RP 1671-72. She

b. Crime scene.

Forensic specialists and detectives processed the scene for potential evidentiary items including latent fingerprints and potential DNA evidence. RP 1780-1788, 1860-1944, 1860-1944.⁸

Shortly after law enforcement began processing the scene, the defendant arrived at the home and inquired as to what was happening. Unsolicited, the defendant volunteered to a detective he had received several texts from Ms. Starbuck and he was concerned about her lifestyle. RP 996-97. He was directed to contact other detectives at a nearby

had significant bruising on most of her body. RP 949-50, 978-979, 1275, 1283-1286, 1669-70, 1672-73. Detectives focused evidence collection efforts in the bedroom where Ms. Starbuck was located. RP 1306. The home did not appear ransacked nor were items knocked over suggesting a struggle. RP 1307.

⁸ As explained by the evidence collection detective: “Whether I believe the value of it is going to be probative, meaning, you know, does it give us some lead to go on. What is the meaning of it? There are times there were probably some items in this case that I may have collected as a safeguard to make sure that we’ve gotten everything that may have any evidentiary value. Although, in that, you sometimes look at things and realize that there could be multiple, many meanings or reasons why evidence or what you think is evidence at the time is in a location and you collect it anyway.... Because this is the beginning of the story, and so when we walk in there, not having any idea necessarily what happened, you have to look everywhere for anything that might be evidentiary. And, as the story unfolds and you begin to learn things through interviews and such, you realize that some of those things you collected don’t have any meaning in regards to this particular situation.”RP 1322-21. Processing included collecting latent fingerprints in the home. RP 1325. The neighborhood was also canvassed for possible witnesses. RP 1025-1032.

substation. RP 998. After the defendant's arrival at the substation and, after brief biographical information was obtained, the defendant asked if Ms. Starbuck had been murdered and volunteered information about dating websites she frequented. RP 1068-69. He stated the last time he physically observed Ms. Starbuck was approximately five or six days prior at a parent-teacher conference. RP 1070. The defendant then offered to show detectives the last text messages he had exchanged with Ms. Starbuck. RP 1070-71. Detectives asked where the investigation should begin and defendant stated Ms. Starbuck had a history of phone sex and to look at her laptop. RP 1073. He remarked: "She does sex stuff, dildos and such." RP 1074. After a period of time, detectives insisted the defendant go home. RP 1077. As they were leaving the parking lot of the substation, the defendant continued to volunteer information about Ms. Starbuck's sex life, claiming she visited porn sites, and the children "hated" her. RP 1077, 1097-1098. The defendant appeared to be knowledgeable regarding the crime scene without being told any specifics of the crime. RP 1105.⁹

⁹ Several days later on December 4, 2011, the defendant left a voice mail with the lead detective Mike Ricketts inquiring, amongst other things, about the autopsy findings. RP 2086. Contact was made with the defendant and he agreed to speak with Detective Ricketts at the sheriff's department. RP 2086. The meeting took place on December 5, 2011. RP 2086. At that time, the defendant granted search consent to download

Several days after the murder, detectives asked the defendant to take a ride along and retrace his activities on the day of the murder. RP 1110-1120.¹⁰ The defendant claimed he drove his car to warm it up before picking the children up for school around 8:00 AM. RP 113. He asserted the car quit running and he walked back and forth using the same sidewalk and route to his home twice during the day. RP 1116-1119. He remarked he eventually returned to the car around 3:00 PM that day. RP 1120.¹¹ He also described his attire for that day. RP 2108. His story placed him within approximately 1½ blocks of Ms. Starbuck's home several times during the day of the murder. RP 2608.

Thereafter, and, unbeknownst to the defendant, detectives obtained home surveillance video footage (an ADT system) recorded the day of the murder, from sidewalk to sidewalk (including the street), of the specific spot the defendant claimed he walked back and forth several times the day

the data from his phone and for a DNA sample. RP 2090, 2094. DNA was also collected in the same manner from Austin and Blake Starbuck; John Kenlein; Tom Walker, and Michael Broadhurst. RP 2097, 2104, 2114.

¹⁰ The defendant's cell phone was turned off after 8:08 AM the day of the murder and turned back on at 3:37 PM. RP 2331-32. The last outgoing message on Ms. Starbuck's cell phone was sent at 3:17 PM. RP 2348.

¹¹ On cross-examination, the defendant asserted he did not recall telling the detectives where he walked back and forth the day of the murder. RP 2609-10, 2013, 2016. He claimed he only remembered telling the detectives where his car stalled the day of the murder. RP 2609.

of the murder.¹² RP 1135. After detectives reviewed the video footage several times, they were unable to locate the defendant on either sidewalk or the street the day of the murder as he had previously claimed. RP 1156-57, 2300-02.

c. Autopsy.

Dr. Sally Aiken, Spokane Medical Examiner, responded to Ms. Starbuck's residence on December 3, 2011. RP 1662. Dr. Aiken swabbed various points on Ms. Starbuck's body. Dr. Aiken explained:

So I took six swabs from the left side of the neck... When I talk about left and right today, it's always going to be the decedent's left side. So, this side of the neck on the decedent. I took six swabs from that area, the left side of the neck and the chin. Then I did the right arm and the left arm. I did four -- or, pardon me, six swabs from the left arm and four swabs from the right arm. And that was all at the investigative scene. I also did some swabs at autopsy.

RP 1663.

During the autopsy, Ms. Starbuck's left lower eyelid and left nostril were also swabbed by Dr. Aiken. RP 1666. The doctor also clipped the fingernails on both hands and swabbed between the fingers. RP 1667-68. Specific swabs collected at the time of autopsy included the right arm,

¹² As described by a detective: "The camera is on the south side of [the] house, and it faces south. And it is right up in the corner of the garage so that it has a view of the driveway, the initial view, and then it pans out where you can see south across the street into the field and then the houses beyond." RP 1141.

left arm, neck, eye and nose area, and the left ankle. RP 1789-1802. Also taken were swabs of the vaginal opening and vaginal vault; and the pubic area was combed. RP 1789-1802. Fingernail clippings were also taken of both the right and left hand. RP 1789-1802. The swabs and samples were provided to the Washington State Patrol Crime Laboratory for testing. RP 2015.

Dr. Aiken documented numerous, significant bruises,¹³ pattern injuries¹⁴ and scrapes over the entirety of Ms. Starbuck's body (front body, back body, head, arms, and legs). RP 1671-1684, 1686-88, 1693-94, 1695-96.¹⁵ She also documented dislocation of the larynx – thyroid cartilage. RP 1687-88. Most of the ribs on the left side and four ribs on the right were fractured by blunt force. RP 1688, 1694. Ms. Starbuck also had bleeding in the deep area of the scalp. RP 1689.

At one point, Ms. Starbuck was face down on the bed before death. RP 1676. After death, she was moved to her staged position. RP 1676.

¹³ None of the bruises showed any sign of healing. RP 1693.

¹⁴ A pattern injury bruise maintains the shape of the object that caused the bruise. RP 1677.

¹⁵ Ms. Starbuck had pattern injuries to her left and right breasts and left hand potentially from a taser burn. RP 1691, 1695. In addition, at one point she may have been stomped on by a shoe and some injuries suggest she was dragged. RP 1692.

During the confrontation and after death, Ms. Starbuck had a device removed from her anus. RP 1730.

The cause of death was attributed to asphyxia due to compression of the neck. RP 1696.

d. Relationship between the defendant and Ms. Starbuck.

The defendant and Ms. Starbuck remarried for the second time on December 29, 2006. RP 2584. The couple separated in June 2010 and the defendant moved out of the family residence. RP 2584. They subsequently divorced, and the decree was entered in July 2011. RP 2585. After the divorce, the two older sons, Blake and Austin Starbuck, lived with the defendant. RP 2585. The three younger children resided with Ms. Starbuck. RP 1339.

On October 28 of 2011, the defendant was ordered to pay and he was in arrears of over \$9,100 in child support and spousal maintenance, plus \$500 in attorney's fees to Ms. Starbuck. RP 1947-48; Ex. 445. The defendant stated this judgment did not make him angry. RP 2585. At the time of the dissolution, the court ordered Ms. Starbuck to receive 50 percent of the defendant's pension. Ex. 445. The defendant maintained this did not make him bitter. RP 2587. At the time the decree was entered, the court authorized a restraining order preventing the defendant from having contact with Ms. Starbuck, and it remained in effect until

August 2012. RP 2587-88. Ex. 445. The defendant stated during cross-examination that he is not a jealous person and he does not get angry. RP 2599. However, he stated he installed spyware on Ms. Starbuck's home computer because he had "suspicions." RP 2599.

Recovered text messages sent by the defendant to Ms. Starbuck preceding the crime included:

[w]ell, thank you, you stupid bitch. You gave me a three-day notice on 15 K. We will need to talk on how to recover.

(August 26, 2011). RP 2283; Ex. 586.

Well, there's an E. You just keep jerking guys off, Chanin, and you alienated four of your five kids. You're lucky [L.S.] has the issues she does or it would be five. Let's talk.

(August 26, 2011). RP 2283-84; Ex. 587.

Instead of doing what's right and what the kids would like, you are more concerned with trying to screw me. But you hurt them. They don't like you for it, and

(September 7, 2011). RP 2285; Ex. 589

By you keeping kids from me, they dislike you more and more. They love being with and seeing me. Can't you see that.

(September 13, 2011). RP 2285; Ex 590.

After all your school and good grades, you're gonna teach. \$4,000 a year for your schooling, how's that right. Have you even had a dental job interview.

(September 15, 2011). RP 2285; Ex 591.

You're a deadbeat mom. You have no concern of how money is made. You just take, take, take, and I give, give, give. I am trying.

(September 15, 2011). RP 2285; Ex 592.

In April 2011, the defendant spontaneously complained to his dentist, Dr. Steven Bates, about Ms. Starbuck dating "lots" of other men and her internet activities. RP 1548. "He was portraying her as being very loose sexually and rendezvousing with a lot of different men." RP 1549. During the conversation, the defendant told Dr. Bates he had placed a keystroke device on Ms. Starbuck's computer so he could monitor all of her activity including emails. RP 1549.¹⁶

On November 21, 2011, a parent-teacher conference was held with the defendant and Ms. Starbuck. RP 1440. During this time and while out of ear shot of Ms. Starbuck, the defendant voluntarily expressed concern to the teacher regarding Ms. Starbuck's dating activities and that the children hated Ms. Starbuck. RP 1440. The defendant remarked he would not be surprised if Ms. Starbuck was found dead, with her throat slit open because of her lifestyle. RP 1440-41.

¹⁶ Forensic analysis of Ms. Starbuck's computer confirmed this assertion. RP 2279. There were two spyware installs on Ms. Starbuck's computer. RP 2295. The computer was last accessed on May 23, 2011. RP 2279.

In December 2011 after the murder, the defendant texted Renee Attridge about Ms. Starbuck's "sexual" lifestyle. RP 1552, 1554. She felt uncomfortable with the nature of these texts. RP 1553. "He was trying to make her look bad." RP 1553. Ms. Attridge was close to L.S. (Starbuck child), as she was a special needs child. RP 1552.

The evening of December 3, 2011, Doug Carter and his wife went to the defendant's home to check on the children. RP 1573. The defendant requested Mr. Carter accompany him into a bedroom. RP 1574. The ensuing "... conversation was surreal ... he said that [Ms. Starbuck] was promiscuous and that he's been trying to help her for some time...." RP 1574. The defendant further revealed M.S. was not his biological son. RP 1575. The defendant "... tried to portray her as a sexual deviant." RP 1575. Mr. Carter found the conversation odd as it was the day Ms. Starbuck's body was found. RP 1584.

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